
 

 

                                                                                                                           
 
Independent Auditors’ Report 
To the Members of Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
  

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS financial statements of Malabar Institute of 
Medical Sciences Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2018, the 
statement of profit and loss, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 
(herein after referred to as “standalone Ind AS financial statements”). 

Management’s responsibility for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements  

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these standalone Ind AS financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, profit/ loss and other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under 
section 133 of the Act. 

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds 
and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone Ind AS financial statements based on our 
audit. 

We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters 
which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder. 

We conducted our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
standalone Ind AS financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures 
in the standalone Ind AS financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal financial control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s Directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial statements. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 

We are also responsible to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify the opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of the auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial statements. 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2018, its profit and other comprehensive 
income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date. 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2016 ('the Order') issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give in “Annexure A” 
a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the said Order. 

2. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that: 

a) we have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

b) in our opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far 
as it appears from our examination of those books;  

c) the balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss, the cash flow statement and the statement of 
changes in equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;  

d) in our opinion, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act read with the rules issued 
thereunder;  

e) on the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March 2018 taken 
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2018 
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act; 

f) with respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate 
report in “Annexure B”; and 

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given to us: 

a. the Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its 
standalone Ind AS financial statements - Refer Note 29 to the standalone Ind AS financial 
statements;  

b. the Company did not have any long–term contracts including derivative contracts for which 
there were material foreseeable losses ; and 
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c. there has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company; and  

d. the disclosures in the financial statements regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified 
bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have not been 
made since they do not pertain to the financial year ended 31 March 2018. However amounts 
as appearing in the audited Standalone Ind AS financial statements for the period ended 31 
March 2017 have been disclosed. 

 

for B S R & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s registration number: 116231W /W-100024 

 

Sd/- 

Baby Paul 
Partner 
Membership number: 218255 
 
Kochi 
14 May 2018 



 

 

Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Annexure - A to the Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
Annexure referred to in our report to the members of Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited, 
(“the Company”) on the standalone Ind AS financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018, we 
report that: 

(i) (a) .The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation of fixed assets. 

(b)  The Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its fixed assets by 
which fixed assets are verified in a phased manner over a period of 3 years. In accordance 
with this programme, certain fixed assets were verified during the year and no material 
discrepancies were noticed on such verification. In our opinion, this periodicity of 
physical verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the 
nature of its assets. 

(c)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our 
examination of the records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable properties are 
held in the name of the Company. 

(ii)         The inventory has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our 
opinion, the frequency of such verification is reasonable. The discrepancies noticed on 
verification between the physical stocks and the book records were not material. 

(iii)         The Company has not granted any loans secured or unsecured, to companies, firms or 
other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 
2013 (‘the Act’). Thus paragraph 3 (iii) (a) to (c) of the Order is not applicable.  

(iv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has complied with the provisions of Sections 185 and 186 of the Act, with 
respect to the investments made. Further, there are no loans, guarantees and security 
given in respect of which provisions of section 185 and 186 of the Act are applicable. 

(v)  The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning the  
directives issued by the Reserve Bank of India, provisions of Section 73 to 76 of the Act, 
any other relevant provisions of the Act and the relevant rules framed thereunder. 

(vi) We have broadly reviewed the books of account relating to materials, labour and other 
items of cost maintained by the Company pursuant to the rules prescribed by the Central 
Government for the maintenance of cost records under section 148(1) of the Act and we 
are of the opinion that prima facie the prescribed accounts and records have been made 
and maintained. However, we have not made a detailed examination of the records. 

(vii)  (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our 
examination of the records of the Company, amounts deducted/ accrued in the books of 
account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ 
state insurance, income-tax, sales tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty, value added 
tax, cess and other material statutory dues have been generally been regularly 
deposited during the year by the Company with the appropriate authorities except for delays 
in depositing amounts deducted / accrued in respect of goods and services tax with the 
appropriate authorities with the delays ranging from 1 to 65 days. 

According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts 
payable in respect of provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, sales tax, 
value added tax, duty of customs, service tax, goods and services tax, cess and other 
material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2018 for a period of more than 
six months from the date they became payable. 
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(b) According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no material dues of 
sales tax, customs duty, service tax, value added tax, goods and services tax and cess 
which have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on account of any dispute. 
According to the information and explanations given to us, the following dues of income 
tax have not been deposited on account of dispute.  

 

Name of the 
statute 

Nature of 
dues 

Amount (in Rs.) Period to 
which the 
amount 
relates 

Forum where 
dispute is 
pending 

Income Tax 
Act, 1961 

Income tax Rs. 2,973,758 AY 2002-03  The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax Rs. 3,645,657 AY 2003-04 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax Rs. 183,632 AY 2004-05 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax, 
interest and 

penalty 

Rs. 11,781,469   
(Rs. 10,361,666)* 

AY 2005-06 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax Rs. 2,378,693 
(Rs. 2,066,999)* 

AY 2006-07 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax 
and interest 

Rs. 3,535,104 

(Rs. 2,464,110)* 

AY 2008-09 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax  Rs. 9,053,270 

(Rs. 1,811,000)* 

AY 2012-13 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

       * The amount represents the payment made under protest 

(viii) The Company has not defaulted in the repayment of loans or borrowings from any banks. 
According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company did not have any 
loans or borrowings from government or debenture holders during the year. 
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(ix) The Company did not raise any money by way of initial public offer or further public 
offer (including debt instruments). According to the information and explanations given 
to us, the term loans taken by the company have been applied for the purposes for which 
they were raised. 

(x) According to the information and explanations given to us, no material fraud by the 
Company or on the Company by its officers or employees has been noticed or reported 
during the course of our audit. 

(xi) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on examination of 
the records of the Company, the Company has paid/ provided managerial remuneration in 
accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of Section 197 read 
with Schedule V to the Act. 

(xii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company is not a nidhi company. Thus, paragraph 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable. 

(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on 
our examination of the records of the Company, transactions with the related parties are in 
compliance with the Sections 177 and 188 of the Act where applicable and the details of 
such transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by applicable 
accounting standards.  

(xiv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on 
our examination of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any 
preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly convertible 
debentures during the year. 

(xv) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of 
the records of the Company, the Company has not entered into non-cash transactions with 
directors or persons connected with him.  

(xvi) According to the information and explanation given to us and in our opinion, the Company 
is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. 

 

 
for B S R & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm registration number: 116231W/W-100024 
 

 
  Sd/- 
 
Baby Paul 
Partner 
Membership number: 218255 
 
Kochi 

 14 May 2018 
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

Report on the internal financial controls under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Malabar 
Institute of Medical Sciences Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2018 in conjunction with our 
audit of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 
 
Management’s responsibility for internal financial controls 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal control with reference to financial statements criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (‘ICAI’). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the 
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as 
required under the Companies Act, 2013. 
 
Auditors’ responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and 
the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of 
the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both 
applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established and maintained and 
if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our 
audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an 
understanding of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to financial 
statements. 
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Meaning of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the 
risk that the internal financial control with reference to financial statements may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system 
with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements were operating effectively as at 31 March 2018, based on the internal control with 
reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
 
 
for B S R & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm registration number: 116231W/W-100024 
 

 
 
Sd/- 
 
Baby Paul 
Partner 
Membership number: 218255 
 
Kochi 

14 May 2018 
 
 



 

 

                                                                                                                           
 
Independent Auditors’ Report 
To the Members of Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
  

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS financial statements of Malabar Institute of 
Medical Sciences Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2018, the 
statement of profit and loss, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 
(herein after referred to as “standalone Ind AS financial statements”). 

Management’s responsibility for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements  

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these standalone Ind AS financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, profit/ loss and other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under 
section 133 of the Act. 

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds 
and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone Ind AS financial statements based on our 
audit. 

We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters 
which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder. 

We conducted our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
standalone Ind AS financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures 
in the standalone Ind AS financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal financial control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s Directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial statements. 
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We are also responsible to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify the opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of the auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial statements. 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner 
so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2018, its profit and other comprehensive 
income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date. 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2016 ('the Order') issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give in “Annexure A” 
a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the said Order. 

2. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that: 

a) we have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

b) in our opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far 
as it appears from our examination of those books;  

c) the balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss, the cash flow statement and the statement of 
changes in equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;  

d) in our opinion, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act read with the rules issued 
thereunder;  

e) on the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March 2018 taken 
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2018 
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act; 

f) with respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate 
report in “Annexure B”; and 

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given to us: 

a. the Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its 
standalone Ind AS financial statements - Refer Note 29 to the standalone Ind AS financial 
statements;  

b. the Company did not have any long–term contracts including derivative contracts for which 
there were material foreseeable losses ; and 
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c. there has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company; and  

d. the disclosures in the financial statements regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified 
bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have not been 
made since they do not pertain to the financial year ended 31 March 2018. However amounts 
as appearing in the audited Standalone Ind AS financial statements for the period ended 31 
March 2017 have been disclosed. 

 

for B S R & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s registration number: 116231W /W-100024 

 

 
Baby Paul 
Partner 
Membership number: 218255 
 
Kochi 
14 May 2018 
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Annexure referred to in our report to the members of Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited, 
(“the Company”) on the standalone Ind AS financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018, we 
report that: 

(i) (a) .The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation of fixed assets. 

(b)  The Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its fixed assets by 
which fixed assets are verified in a phased manner over a period of 3 years. In accordance 
with this programme, certain fixed assets were verified during the year and no material 
discrepancies were noticed on such verification. In our opinion, this periodicity of 
physical verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the 
nature of its assets. 

(c)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our 
examination of the records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable properties are 
held in the name of the Company. 

(ii)         The inventory has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our 
opinion, the frequency of such verification is reasonable. The discrepancies noticed on 
verification between the physical stocks and the book records were not material. 

(iii)         The Company has not granted any loans secured or unsecured, to companies, firms or 
other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 
2013 (‘the Act’). Thus paragraph 3 (iii) (a) to (c) of the Order is not applicable.  

(iv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has complied with the provisions of Sections 185 and 186 of the Act, with 
respect to the investments made. Further, there are no loans, guarantees and security 
given in respect of which provisions of section 185 and 186 of the Act are applicable. 

(v)  The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning the  
directives issued by the Reserve Bank of India, provisions of Section 73 to 76 of the Act, 
any other relevant provisions of the Act and the relevant rules framed thereunder. 

(vi) We have broadly reviewed the books of account relating to materials, labour and other 
items of cost maintained by the Company pursuant to the rules prescribed by the Central 
Government for the maintenance of cost records under section 148(1) of the Act and we 
are of the opinion that prima facie the prescribed accounts and records have been made 
and maintained. However, we have not made a detailed examination of the records. 

(vii)  (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our 
examination of the records of the Company, amounts deducted/ accrued in the books of 
account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ 
state insurance, income-tax, sales tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty, value added 
tax, cess and other material statutory dues have been generally been regularly 
deposited during the year by the Company with the appropriate authorities except for delays 
in depositing amounts deducted / accrued in respect of goods and services tax with the 
appropriate authorities with the delays ranging from 1 to 65 days. 

According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts 
payable in respect of provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, sales tax, 
value added tax, duty of customs, service tax, goods and services tax, cess and other 
material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2018 for a period of more than 
six months from the date they became payable. 
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(b) According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no material dues of 
sales tax, customs duty, service tax, value added tax, goods and services tax and cess 
which have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on account of any dispute. 
According to the information and explanations given to us, the following dues of income 
tax have not been deposited on account of dispute.  

 

Name of the 
statute 

Nature of 
dues 

Amount (in Rs.) Period to 
which the 
amount 
relates 

Forum where 
dispute is 
pending 

Income Tax 
Act, 1961 

Income tax Rs. 2,973,758 AY 2002-03  The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax Rs. 3,645,657 AY 2003-04 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax Rs. 183,632 AY 2004-05 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax, 
interest and 

penalty 

Rs. 11,781,469   
(Rs. 10,361,666)* 

AY 2005-06 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax Rs. 2,378,693 
(Rs. 2,066,999)* 

AY 2006-07 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax 
and interest 

Rs. 3,535,104 

(Rs. 2,464,110)* 

AY 2008-09 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

Income Tax Act, 
1961 

Income tax  Rs. 9,053,270 

(Rs. 1,811,000)* 

AY 2012-13 The 
Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals) 
Calicut 

       * The amount represents the payment made under protest 

(viii) The Company has not defaulted in the repayment of loans or borrowings from any banks. 
According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company did not have any 
loans or borrowings from government or debenture holders during the year. 

 



 

 

Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Annexure - A to the Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 
 

(ix) The Company did not raise any money by way of initial public offer or further public 
offer (including debt instruments). According to the information and explanations given 
to us, the term loans taken by the company have been applied for the purposes for which 
they were raised. 

(x) According to the information and explanations given to us, no material fraud by the 
Company or on the Company by its officers or employees has been noticed or reported 
during the course of our audit. 

(xi) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on examination of 
the records of the Company, the Company has paid/ provided managerial remuneration in 
accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of Section 197 read 
with Schedule V to the Act. 

(xii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company is not a nidhi company. Thus, paragraph 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable. 

(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on 
our examination of the records of the Company, transactions with the related parties are in 
compliance with the Sections 177 and 188 of the Act where applicable and the details of 
such transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by applicable 
accounting standards.  

(xiv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on 
our examination of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any 
preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly convertible 
debentures during the year. 

(xv) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of 
the records of the Company, the Company has not entered into non-cash transactions with 
directors or persons connected with him.  

(xvi) According to the information and explanation given to us and in our opinion, the Company 
is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. 

 

 
for B S R & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm registration number: 116231W/W-100024 
 

 
 
 
 
Baby Paul 
Partner 
Membership number: 218255 
 
Kochi 

 14 May 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Annexure B to the Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

Report on the internal financial controls under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Malabar 
Institute of Medical Sciences Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2018 in conjunction with our 
audit of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 
 
Management’s responsibility for internal financial controls 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal control with reference to financial statements criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (‘ICAI’). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the 
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as 
required under the Companies Act, 2013. 
 
Auditors’ responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and 
the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of 
the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both 
applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established and maintained and 
if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our 
audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an 
understanding of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with reference to financial 
statements. 



 

 

Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Annexure B to the Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 
 
Meaning of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the 
risk that the internal financial control with reference to financial statements may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system 
with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements were operating effectively as at 31 March 2018, based on the internal control with 
reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
 
 
for B S R & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm registration number: 116231W/W-100024 
 

 
 
 
 
Baby Paul 
Partner 
Membership number: 218255 
 
Kochi 

14 May 2018 
 
 



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 1,000,000.00                      

Balance sheet as at 31 March 2018
(All amounts in Indian rupees million)

Note
 As at 

31 March 2018 
 As at 

31 March 2017 

Assets

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 4 4,821.05                           4,900.73                             
Capital work-in-progress 4 476.67                              230.49                                
Intangible assets 5 5.70                                  7.96                                    
Financial assets

Investments 6 92.91                                92.91                                  
Other financial assets 7 14.99                                13.90                                  

Other non-current assets 8 58.01                                13.59                                  
Income tax assets (net) 28 20.76                                43.67                                  

5,490.09                           5,303.25                             
Current assets 
Inventories 9 94.87                                92.81                                  
Financial assets

Trade receivables 10 313.62                              227.06                                
Cash and cash equivalents 11 15.62                                27.43                                  
Bank balances other than above 12 1.24                                  0.65                                    
Other financial assets 7 39.76                                36.39                                  

Other current assets 8 30.37                                34.94                                  
495.48                              419.28                                

Total assets 5,985.57                           5,722.53                             

Equity and liabilities

Equity
Equity share capital 13 908.29                              908.29                                
Other equity 2,847.28                           2,773.38                             

3,755.57                           3,681.67                             
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities

Borrowings 14 760.21                              725.38                                
Provisions 16 45.78                                42.82                                  
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 28 669.07                              662.14                                

1,475.06                           1,430.34                             
Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities

Borrowings 14 51.21                                44.92                                  
Trade payables 18 247.76                              197.10                                
Other financial liabilities 15 403.45                              321.66                                

Provisions 16 10.67                                7.51                                    
Other current liabilities 17 41.85                                39.33                                  

754.94                              610.52                                

Total 5,985.57                           5,722.53                             

Significant accounting policies 3

As per our report of even date attached

for  B S R & Associates LLP for  and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited
Firm registration number: 116231W /W-100024 CIN:U85110KL1995PLC008677

Baby Paul Dr. Azad Moopen U. Basheer Dr. Santy Sajan
Partner                                                  Chairman Whole Time Director  Chief Executive Officer
Membership number: 218255 Dubai Calicut  Calicut

14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018

P. Jayakrishnan  Udayakumar T. P.
Chief Financial Officer  Company Secretary

Kochi Calicut  Calicut
14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone balance sheet



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 1,000,000                    

Statement of profit and loss for the year ended 31 March  2018

(All amounts in Indian rupees million)

Note  Year ended 
31 March 2018 

 Year ended 
31 March 2017 

Income 
Revenue from operations 19 3,236.05                             3,141.39                      
Other income 20 40.75                                  44.52                           

Total income 3,276.80                             3,185.91                      

Expenses
Purchases of medicines and consumables 21 806.92                                828.04                         
Change in inventories 22 (3.30)                                  6.99                             
Employee benefits expense 23 639.67                                612.04                         
Finance costs 24 51.14                                  54.85                           
Depreciation and amortisation 25 133.48                                138.85                         
Other expenses 26 1,432.78                             1,359.95                      
CSR expenditure 27 10.58                                  7.19                             

Total expenses 3,071.27                             3,007.91                      

205.53                                178.00                         
Tax expense 28

Current tax 72.30                                  53.61                           
Income tax for earlier years -                                     16.44                           
Deferred tax 6.93                                    8.12                             

Total tax expense 79.23                                  78.17                           

 126.30                                99.83                           

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

2.26                                    (0.50)                           

Total comprehensive income for the year 128.56                                99.33                           

30

Basic and diluted 1.39                                    1.10                             

Significant accounting policies 3

As per our report of even date attached

for  B S R & Associates LLP for  and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited

Firm registration number: 116231W /W-100024 CIN:U85110KL1995PLC008677

Baby Paul Dr. Azad Moopen U. Basheer Dr Santy Sajan
Partner                                                  Chairman Whole Time Director Chief Executive Officer
Membership number: 218255 Dubai Calicut Calicut

14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018

 P. Jayakrishnan  Udayakumar T. P.
 Chief Financial Officer  Company Secretary

Kochi  Calicut  Calicut
14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone statement of profit and loss.

Profit before tax

Profit for the year

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability, net of tax effect

Earnings per share (equity share of face value of Rs.10 each)



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 1,000,000                           

Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amounts in Indian rupees million)

 For the year ended 
31 March 2018 

 For the year ended 
31 March 2017 

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 205.53                           178.00                                
Adjustments for

Depreciation and amortisation 133.48                           138.85                                

Finance costs 51.14                             54.85                                  

Interest income (1.32)                              (0.51)                                   

Dividend on non-current investments -                                 (3.18)                                   
Allowances for credit losses on financial assets 3.50                               1.30                                    
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment, net -                                 0.32                                    
Operating cash flow before working capital changes 392.33                           369.63                                
Increase  in trade receivables (90.06)                            (60.72)                                 
(Increase) / decrease in inventories (2.05)                              (0.95)                                   
(Increase) / decrease in other financial assets and other assets (0.58)                              10.07                                  
Increase in trade payables, provisions and other financials liabilities 115.38                           117.10                                
Cash generated from operations 415.02                           435.13                                

Taxes paid, net of refund received (49.37)                            (73.42)                                 
Net cash generated from operating activities (A) 365.65                           361.71                                

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 1.27                               0.95                                    
Dividend received -                                 3.18                                    
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (307.64)                         (548.11)                               
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.37                               1.37                                    
Net cash used in investing activities (B) (305.00)                         (542.61)                               

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid and related dividend distribution tax (54.66)                            (109.32)                               
Interest paid (including borrowing cost capitalised) (81.54)                            (71.60)                                 
Secured borrowings availed/ (repaid), net 63.74                             356.51                                
Net cash generated used in financing activities ( C ) (72.46)                            175.59                                

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (11.81)                            (5.31)                                   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 27.43                             32.74                                  
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15.62                             27.43                                  
(refer to note 11 - Cash and cash equivalents) 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone cash flow statement

As per our report of even date attached

for  B S R & Associates LLP for  and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited
Firm registration number: 116231W /W-100024 CIN:U85110KL1995PLC008677

Baby Paul Dr. Azad Moopen U. Basheer Dr Santy Sajan
Partner                                                  Chairman Whole Time Director Chief Executive Officer
Membership number: 218255 Dubai Calicut Calicut

14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018

P. Jayakrishnan Udayakumar T. P.
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Kochi Calicut Calicut
14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 1000000

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amounts in Indian rupees million)

A. Equity share capital

Note Equity shares Amount
Equity shares of INR 10 each issued at par, subscribed and fully paid-up
As at 1 April 2016 90,829,497             908.29                                   
Changes in equity share capital during 2016-17 -                         -                                         
As at 31 March 2017 90,829,497             908.29                                   

Changes in equity share capital during 2017-18 -                          -                                         
As at 31 March 2018 90,829,497             908.29                                   

B Other equity

Items of other 
comprehensive income

Securities 
premium 

Retained earnings
Remeasurement of net 

defined benefit liability, net 
of tax effect

As at 1 April 2016 423.77                  2,359.60                 -                                         2,783.37                        
Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2017
Profit for the year -                        99.83                      -                                         99.83                             
Other comprehensive income -                        -                          (0.50)                                      (0.50)                              
Total comprehensive income -                        99.83                      (0.50)                                      99.33                             
Transferred to retained earnings (0.50)                      0.50                                       
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividend paid -                        (90.83)                    -                                         (90.83)                            
Dividend tax -                        (18.49)                    -                                         (18.49)                            
Total contributions by and distributions to owners -                        (109.82)                  0.50                                       (109.32)                          
As at 31 March 2017 423.77                  2,349.61                 -                                         2,773.38                        
Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2018
Profit for the year -                        126.30                    -                                         126.30                           
Other comprehensive income -                        -                          2.26                                       2.26                               
Total comprehensive income -                        126.30                    2.26                                       128.56                           
Transferred to retained earnings 2.26                        (2.26)                                      
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividend paid -                        (45.41)                    -                                         (45.41)                            
Dividend tax -                        (9.25)                      -                                         (9.25)                              
Total contributions by and distributions to owners -                        (52.40)                    (2.26)                                      (54.66)                            
As at 31 March 2018 423.77                  2,423.51                 -                                         2,847.28                        

Description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity is as follows:
Securities premium

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statement of changes in equity

As per our report of even date attached
for B S R & Associates LLP for  and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited
Firm registration number: 116231W /W-100024 CIN:U85110KL1995PLC008677

Baby Paul Dr. Azad Moopen U. Basheer Dr Santy Sajan
Partner                                                  Chairman Whole Time Director Chief Executive Officer
Membership number: 218255 Dubai Calicut Calicut

14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018

P. Jayakrishnan  Udayakumar T. P.
Chief Financial Officer  Company Secretary

Kochi Calicut  Calicut
14 May 2018 14 May 2018 14 May 2018

Total equity 
attributable to equity 

holders of the company

Securities premium is used to record the premium received on issue of shares. It is utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013

13

Particulars

Reserves and surplus



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Notes to the standalone financial statements 

1. Company overview 
 

Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited ('the Company') was incorporated on 17 
February 1995 as a limited company. The registered office of the Company is located at Mini 
Bypass Road, Govindapuram, Calicut, Kerala. The Company is primarily engaged in the 
business of rendering healthcare services. The immediate holding company is Aster DM 
healthcare Limited, India and the ultimate parent company is Union Investments Private 
Limited, Mauritius. 

 
2. Basis of preparation 

A. Statement of compliance 

These standalone financial statements are prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 notified 
under Section 133 of Companies Act, 2013 (the 'Act'), as amended and other relevant 
provisions of the Act. 

The standalone financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company's Board of 
Directors on 14 May 2018. 

Details of the Company's accounting policies are included in Note 3. 

B. Functional and presentation currency 
These standalone financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also 
the Company's functional currency. All amounts are presented in Indian Rupees in millions, 
except share data, unless otherwise stated. 

 
C. Basis of measurement 

The standalone financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
the following items: 

 

Items Measurement basis 

Net defined benefit (asset)/ liability Fair value of plan assets less present 
value of defined benefit obligations 

D. Use of estimates and judgements 
 

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised prospectively. 

Judgements 

There are no significant judgement made in applying accounting policies that have the most 
material effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 

 

 



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Notes to the standalone financial statements 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties 
 
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment in the year ending 31 March 2018 is included in the 
following notes: 
 

Note 4 and 5 - measurement of useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets; 

Note 36C - Measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions; 

Note 28 – recognition of deferred tax asset: availability of future taxable profit against which 
tax losses carried forward can be used; 

Note 29 - Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key 
assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of outflow of resources; 

Note 35B - recognition of allowance for credit losses on financial assets; 

E. Measurement of fair values 

A number of the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair 
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. The Company has an established 
control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. Significant valuation issues are 
reported to the Company's audit committee. 

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used 
in the valuation techniques as follows: 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data 
as far as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into 
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its 
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to 
the entire measurement. 

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred. Further information about the assumptions 
made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes: 

Note 35 - Financial instruments. 

F. Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

           Ind AS 115, Revenue from Contract with Customers 
 

On 28 March 2018, the MCA notified the Ind AS 115. The core principle of the new standard is 
that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. Further, the new standard requires enhanced disclosures 
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the 
entity’s contracts with customers. 
 



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Notes to the standalone financial statements 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

            The standard permits two methods of transition: 
 

 Retrospective approach – Under this approach the standard will be applied retrospectively 
to each prior reporting period presented in accordance with Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

 Retrospectively with cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the 
date of initial application (Cumulative catch up approach). 
 

The effective date for adoption of Ind AS 115 is financial period beginning on or after                           
1 April 2018. 
 
The company will adopt the standard on 1 April 2018 by using cumulative catch up transition 
method and accordingly, comparatives for the year ending or ended 31 March 2018 will not be 
retrospectively adjusted. The effect of adoption of Ind AS 115 is expected to be insignificant. 

3. Significant accounting policies 

3.1 Property, plant and equipment 

i. Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalized 
borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises of its purchase price, including import 
duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly 
attributable cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated 
costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. 

The cost of a self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment comprises the cost of 
materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the item to working 
condition for its intended use, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and 
restoring the site on which it is located. 
 
If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then 
they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit 
or loss. 

Advances paid towards the acquisition of fixed assets, outstanding at each balance sheet date 
are shown under long-term loans and advances. The cost of fixed assets not ready for its 
intended use at each balance sheet date are disclosed as capital work-in-progress. 

 
ii. Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Company. 

 
iii. Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated on cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their 
estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method, and 
is generally recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the lease term or useful lives of assets, whichever is lower. Freehold land is 
not depreciated. 



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Notes to the standalone financial statements 

3.1      Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment for the current and 
comparative periods are as follows: 

 

Class of assets Useful life 

Buildings                    3-60 
Plant and machinery          15 
Medical equipment*            10-13 
Motor vehicles                      8 
Computer equipment                      3 
Furniture and fittings                5-10 
Electrical fixtures             10 

 
* For the above mentioned classes of assets, the Company believes that the useful lives as 
given above best represent the useful lives of these assets based on internal assessment and 
supported by technical advice, where necessary, which is different from the useful lives as 
prescribed under Part C of Schedule  II of the Companies Act, 2013. 

Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end 
and adjusted if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the 
management believes that its estimates of useful lives as given above best represent the period 
over which management expects to use these assets. 

Change in estimated useful life: With effect from 1 April 2017, based on the technical 
evaluation, the Company has revised the estimated useful lives of certain categories of 
property, plant and equipment. The change in accounting estimate is applied prospectively in 
accordance with Ind AS 8, 'Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors' 
and has an impact on the depreciation expense. The financial impact due to the change in the 
estimate is disclosed in Note 4. Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate. 

Depreciation on additions (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from (up to) the date 
on which asset is ready for use (disposed of). 

3.2 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment. Intangible 
assets are amortized over their respective individual estimated useful lives on a straight-line 
basis, commencing from the date the asset is available to the Company for its use and is 
included in depreciation and amortization in statement of profit and loss.  

 
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
Class of assets Revised useful life 
Software 6 

Amortization method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each 
financial year and adjusted if appropriate. Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it 
increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All 
other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

 



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited 
Notes to the standalone financial statements 

3.3 Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories 
comprises purchase price, cost of conversion and other cost incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. The Company uses the weighted average 
method to determine the cost of inventory consisting of medicines and medical consumables. 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The 
comparison of cost and net realizable values is made on an item-by-item basis. 
 

3.4 Financial instruments 
 

i. Recognition and initial measurement 
 

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All 
other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair 
value through profit and loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue. 
 
ii. Classification and subsequent measurement 

 
Financial assets 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at either at amortised cost, FVTPL 
or fair value in other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period 
the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and  
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI (designated as 
FVOCI – equity investment). This election is made on an investment by investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the 
Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be 
measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets: Business model assessment 

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset 
is held at investment level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information 
is provided to management. The information considered includes: 

-  the stated policies and objectives for each of such investments and the operation of those policies 
in practice.  
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3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 
that business model) and how those risks are managed; 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such 
sales   and expectations about future sales activity. 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are 
not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the 
assets. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a 
fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit 
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other 
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash 
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers: 

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;  
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;  
- prepayment and extension features; and 
- terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 

features). 
 

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial assets at FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.  

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest 
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Equity investments at 
FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised 
as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of 
part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in 
OCI and are not reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is 
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as 
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains 
and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense 
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 
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3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
iii. Derecognition 

 
Financial assets 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction 
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred 
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset. 
If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, 
but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the 
transferred assets are not derecognised. 
 
Financial liabilities 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire. The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified 
and the cash flows under the modified terms are substantially different. In this case, a new financial 
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

3.5 Impairment 

i. Impairment of financial  instruments 

The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets 
measured at amortized cost. 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized 
cost are credit impaired. A financial asset is 'credit impaired' when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred. 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses. Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that 
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 
In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the 
maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Measurement of expected credit losses 
Expected credit losses are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are 
measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due 
to the Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive). 

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets. 
 
Write-off 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the 
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the 
Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could 
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write off. 
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3.5 Impairment (continued) 

ii. Impairment of non- financial assets 

The Company's non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.  

For impairment testing, assets that do not generate independent cash inflows are grouped 
together into cash-generating units (CGUs). Each CGU represents the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or CGUs. 

The recoverable amount of a CGU (or an individual asset) is the higher of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU (or the asset). 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  

In respect of assets for which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the 
Company reviews at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such a reversal is made only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 

3.6 Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are 
classified as short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, bonus and 
ex-gratia. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid e.g., under short-term cash 
bonus, if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result 
of past service provided by the employee, and the amount of obligation can be estimated reliably. 

           Post-employment benefits  

           Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. The Company makes specified monthly contributions towards Government administered 
provident fund scheme. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised 
as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which the related services 
are rendered   by employees. 
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3.6 Employee benefits (continued) 

           Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. 
The Company's net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each 
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior 
periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets, if any. 

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Company, the 
recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any 
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan ('the asset ceiling'). In 
order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum 
funding requirements. 

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, 
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding 
interest), are recognised in OCI. The Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the 
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit 
liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during 
the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other 
expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit 
that relates to past service ('past service cost' or 'past service gain') or the gain or loss on curtailment 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Company recognises gains and losses on the 
settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

Other long term employee benefits - Compensated absences 

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and 
utilize it in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. 
Since the compensated absences do not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service and are also not expected to be utilized 
wholly within twelve months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term 
employee benefit. The Company  records  an obligation  for such  compensated  absences  in the  
period  in  which  the employee renders the services that increase this entitlement. The obligation 
is measured on the basis of independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. 

3.7 Provisions (other than employee benefits) 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows (representing the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date) at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. Expected future operating losses are not 
provided for. 

A contract is considered to be onerous when the expected economic benefits to be derived by the 
Company from the contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under 
the contract. The provision for an onerous contract is measured at the present value of the lower 
of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the 
contract. Before such a provision is made, the Company recognizes any impairment loss on the 
assets associated with that contract. 
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3.8 Revenue 

Revenue from medical and healthcare services to patients is recognised as revenue when the 
related services are rendered unless significant future uncertainties exist. Revenue is also 
recognised in relation to the services rendered to the patients who are undergoing treatment/ 
observation on the balance sheet date to the extent of services rendered. 

Revenue is recognised net of discounts given to the patients. 

Revenue from sale of medical consumables and drugs within the hospital premises is recognised 
when property in the goods or all significant risks and rewards of their ownership are transferred 
to the customer and no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount of the consideration 
that will be derived from the sale of the goods and regarding its collection. 

Revenue from sale of pharmaceutical products within hospital premises is recognised on sale of 
medical products. The amount of revenue recognised is net of trade discounts and sales returns 
and exclusive of sales tax. 

‘Unbilled revenue’ represents value to the extent of medical and healthcare services rendered to 
the    patients who are undergoing treatment/ observation on the balance sheet date and is not billed 
as at the balance sheet date. 
 
Income from services rendered is recognised based on agreements / arrangements with the 
customers as   the service is performed in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the reporting date and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

3.9 Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company at 
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average rate if the average rate 
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rate when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss. 

3.10 Leases 

i. Determining  whether an arrangement contains a lease   

At inception of an arrangement, it is determined whether the arrangement is or contains a lease. At 
inception or on reassessment of the arrangement that contains a lease, the payments and other 
consideration required by such an arrangement are separated into those for the lease and those for 
other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. 

ii. Assets held under leases 

Assets held under leases that do not transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership (i.e. operating leases) are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. 

iii. Lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are generally recognised in profit or loss on a straight- line 
basis over the term of the lease unless such payments are structured to increase in line with expected 
general inflation to compensate for the lessor's expected inflationary cost increases. Lease 
incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense over the term of the 
lease.  
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3.11 Recognition of dividend income, interest income or interest expense 

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the right to receive payment 
is established. 

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. The 'effective interest 
rate'   is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the 
amortized cost of the financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective 
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-
impaired) or to the amortized cost of the liability. 

3.12 Income tax 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to an item recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

i. Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount 
of current tax reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received after 
considering the uncertainty, if any, related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates (and tax 
laws) enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to 
set off  the  recognised  amounts,  and it  is  intended  to realize  the asset  and settle the liability  
on a net  basis or simultaneously. 

ii. Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses and tax 
credits. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be used. The existence of unused tax losses is strong evidence 
that future taxable profit may not be available. Therefore, in case of a history of recent losses, the 
Company recognizes a deferred tax asset only to the extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary 
differences or there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
against which such deferred tax asset can be realized. Deferred tax assets - unrecognized or 
recognized, are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognised/ reduced to the extent that it is 
probable/ no longer probable respectively that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 
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3.13 Borrowing cost 

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign 
currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) 
incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to 
acquisition or construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
3.14 Earnings per share 

The basic earnings per share ('EPS') is computed by dividing the net profit after tax for the  year 
attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year. 

The number of shares used in computing diluted earnings per share comprises the weighted 
average number of shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share and also the weighted 
average number of equity shares that could have been issued on the conversion of all dilutive 
potential equity shares. Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning 
of the period unless issued at a later date. In computing dilutive earning per share, only potential 
equity shares that are dilutive i.e. which reduces earnings per share or increases loss per share are 
included. 

 
3.15 Cash-flow statement 

Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby net profit before tax is adjusted for 
the effects of transactions of a non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash flows from regular revenue generating, investing and financing 
activities of the Company are segregated.
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13 Share capital Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount 

Authorised 
Equity shares 100,000,000          1,000.00                 100,000,000            1,000.00                  

100,000,000          1,000.00                 100,000,000            1,000.00                  

Equity share capital

Issued, subscribed and paid-up
Equity shares 
At the beginning of the year 90,829,497            908.29                    90,829,497              908.29                     
Add: issued during the year -                         -                         -                           -                           
At the end of the year 90,829,497            908.29                    90,829,497              908.29                     

(a) Shares held by ultimate holding company/ holding company and their subsidiaries/ associates

Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount 

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid-up held by 

Aster DM Healthcare Limited 64,198,863            641.99                    64,198,863              641.99                     

(b) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares of the Company 

Number of shares  % holding 
in the class 

 Number of shares   % holding 
in the class 

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid -up held by 

Aster DM Healthcare Limited 64,198,863            70.68% 64,198,863              70.68%

(c) Details of buyback, bonus shares, issue for consideration other than for cash for past 5 years

As at 
31 March 2018

As at 
31 March 2017

The Company has not allotted any fully paid-up equity shares by way of bonus shares nor has bought back any class of equity shares nor has there 
been any issue for consideration other than for cash during the period of five years immediately preceding the balance sheet date. 
Also refer note 37 for policy with respect to capital management.

As at 
31 March 2018

As at 
31 March 2017

The Company has a single class of equity shares. All equity shares rank equally with regard to dividends and share in the Company’s residual assets. 
The equity shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. The voting rights of an equity shareholder on a poll (not on show of 
hands) are in proportion to shareholders' share of the paid-up equity capital of the Company. Voting rights cannot be exercised in respect of shares on 
which any call or other sums presently payable have not been paid. On winding up of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to 
receive the residual assets of the Company, remaining after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to the number of equity shares held.

As at 
31 March 2018

As at 
31 March 2017
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4 Property, plant and equipment

 Particulars  Land  Buildings  
 Leasehold 

improvements 
 Furniture and 

fixtures 
 Office 

equipments 
 Plant and 
machinery  

 Computers  Medical 
equipments 

 Vehicles 
 Total

(A) 
 Capital work-
in-progress (B) 

 Total
(A)+(B) 

Gross carrying value

Balance at 1 April 2016 3,193.58               830.17               4.77                   129.21              14.35               316.07               65.37               1,146.59               11.81              5,711.92               28.71               5,740.63               
Additions 155.01                  2.78                   -                    3.00                  0.40                 12.66                 2.57                 183.69                  0.46                360.57                  217.49             578.06                  
Deletions -                       -                    -                    (0.09)                 -                   (0.18)                  -                   (22.74)                  (0.74)               (23.75)                   (15.71)              (39.46)                   
Balance at 31 March 2017 3,348.59               832.95               4.77                   132.12              14.75               328.55               67.94               1,307.54               11.53              6,048.74               230.49             6,279.23               

Balance at 1 April 2017 3,348.59               832.95               4.77                   132.12              14.75               328.55               67.94               1,307.54               11.53              6,048.74               230.49             6,279.23               
Additions 5.21                      2.62                   -                    1.69                  0.22                 7.14                   2.62                 30.58                    2.45                52.53                    246.18             298.71                  
Deletions -                       -                    -                    -                    -                   -                    -                   (8.16)                    (0.29)               (8.45)                     -                   (8.45)                     
Balance at 31 March 2018 3,353.80               835.57               4.77                   133.81              14.97               335.69               70.56               1,329.96               13.69              6,092.82               476.67             6,569.49               

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 1 April 2016 -                       114.92               2.06                   73.20                12.55               166.93               52.48               604.82                  5.39                1,032.35               -                   1,032.35               
Depreciation -                       13.59                 0.92                   10.59                0.78                 20.22                 6.72                 83.58                    1.32                137.72                  -                   137.72                  
Deletions -                       -                    -                    (0.04)                 -                   (0.09)                  -                   (21.56)                  (0.37)               (22.06)                   -                   (22.06)                   
Balance at 31 March 2017 -                       128.51               2.98                   83.75                13.33               187.06               59.20               666.84                  6.34                1,148.01               -                   1,148.01               

Balance at 1 April 2017 -                       128.51               2.98                   83.75                13.33               187.06               59.20               666.84                  6.34                1,148.01               -                   1,148.01               
Depreciation -                       13.42                 0.92                   11.69                0.46                 15.70                 4.59                 82.90                    1.16                130.84                  -                   130.84                  
Deletions -                       -                    -                    -                    -                   -                    -                   (6.81)                    (0.27)               (7.08)                  -                   (7.08)                     
Balance at 31 March 2018 -                       141.93               3.90                   95.44                13.79               202.76               63.79               742.93                  7.23                1,271.77               -                   1,271.77               

Net carrying value as at 31 March 2018 3,353.80               693.64               0.87                   38.37                1.18                 132.93               6.77                 587.03                  6.46                4,821.05               476.67             5,297.72               
Net carrying value as at 31 March 2017 3,348.59               704.44               1.79                   48.37                1.42                 141.49               8.74                 640.70                  5.19                4,900.73               230.49             5,131.22               

b) Capital work in progress represents  expenditure towards construction of hospitals at Kannur, Pantheerankavu and Calicut
c) For details of property, plant and equipment pledged, refer Note 14

For the year ended 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2022

12.04                    11.83              12.14                    12.61               11.21                    

a)  Fixed assets and capital work-in-progress includes borrowing cost in accordance with  Ind AS 23 -  Borrowing cost aggregating Rs 35.74  (31 March 2017: Rs 17.16) . 

d) With effect from 1 April 2017, the Group has revised the useful lives of certain property, plant and equipment. The change in accounting estimate is applied prospectively in accordance with Ind AS 8 - Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors. The 
effect of these changes on the depreciation charge in the current and future years is as follows:

Decrease in depreciation charge
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5 Intangibles assets

 Software  Total 
Gross carrying value
Balance at 1 April 2016 10.90                                      10.90                                    
Additions 0.50                                        0.50                                      
Deletions -                                         -                                        
Balance at 31 March 2017 11.40                                      11.40                                    

Balance at 1 April 2017 11.39                                      11.39                                    
Additions 0.39                                        0.39                                      
Deletions -                                         -                                        
Balance at 31 March 2018 11.78                                      11.78                                    

Amortisation 
Balance at 1 April 2016 2.29                                        2.29                                      
Amortisation for the year 1.15                                        1.15                                      
Balance at 31 March 2017 3.44                                        3.44                                      

Balance at 1 April 2017 3.44                                        3.44                                      
Amortisation for the year 2.64                                        2.64                                      
Balance at 31 March 2018 6.08                                        6.08                                      

Net carrying value as at 31 March 2018 5.70                                        5.70                                      
Net carrying value as at 31 March 2017 7.96                                        7.96                                      
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 As at 
31 March 2018 

 As at 
31 March 2017 

6        Investments
Non-current
Investment in Associate - Unquoted investments (non- trade at cost)
Investment in MIMS Infrastructure and Properties Private Limited
6,617,401 (31 March 2017 - 6,617,401) equity shares of Rs.10 each 66.18                       66.18                       
Investments in preference shares at amortised cost
2,673,274 (31 March 2017 - 2,673,274) preference shares of Rs.10 each 26.73                       26.73                       

92.91                       92.91                       

Aggregrate amount of unquoted investments 92.91                       92.91                       

7        Other financial assets
Non-current
Unsecured, considered good
Security deposits 13.88                       13.79                       
Due from related party (refer note 34) 1.11                         0.11                         

14.99                       13.90                       

Current
Unsecured, considered good
Security deposits 12.67                       12.67                       
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 0.15                         0.10                         
Insurance claim receivable 0.25                         1.86                         
Unbilled revenue 26.54                       21.63                       
Due from associates (refer note 34) 0.15                         0.13                         

39.76                       36.39                       
54.75                       50.29                       

8        Other assets
Non-current
Unsecured, considered good
In deposit account for margin money 1.00                         1.00                         
Advance for capital goods 55.38                       11.13                       
Other loans and advances 1.63                         1.46                         

58.01                       13.59                       

Current
Unsecured, considered good
Prepaid expenses 19.93                       23.08                       
Advance to employees 1.55                         3.24                         
Advances for supply of goods and rendering of services 8.89                         8.62                         

30.37                       34.94                       
88.38                       48.53                       

9        Inventories
Stock in trade including medical consumables 86.04                       82.74                       
Stores and spares 8.83                         10.07                       

94.87                       92.81                       

10      Trade receivables 
Current
Unsecured

considered good 316.27                     227.31                     
considered doubtful 10.94                       9.84                         

327.21                     237.15                     

Allowances for credit loss (13.59)                      (10.09)                      
Net trade receivables 313.62                     227.06                     

11      Cash and cash equivalents
Balance with banks 11.83                       25.43                       
Cash on hand 3.79                         2.00                         

15.62                       27.43                       

12      Bank Balances
Balance in banks for margin money 1.24                         0.65                         

1.24                         0.65                         

The Company's exposure to credit and currency risks and loss allowances related to trade receivables 
are disclosed in Note 35
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 As at 
31 March 2018 

 As at 
31 March 2017 

14  Borrowings 
Non-current
Term loans from banks - Secured 760.21                 725.38                

760.21                 725.38                
Current

Cash credit and overdraft - Secured loans from banks 51.21                   44.92                  
   Current portion of Term loans from banks - Secured 140.42                 117.80                

191.63                 162.72                
Less: Amount included under 'other financials liabilities' 140.42                 117.80                

51.21                   44.92                  

Total borrowings 951.84                 888.10                
Details of securities, terms and conditions on loans 

Lenders name Security terms
Interest Rate

(p.a)
Tenure

As at
 31 March 2018*

As at
 31 March 2017*

Dhanlaxmi Bank Limited Secured by equitable mortgage of land with
building and also by hypothecation of 
furniture, equipments, machinery, 
computers.Vehicle loans are secured by 
hypothecation of vehicles purchased using 
the term loans.

Base rate plus 0.5%  -
Base rate plus 3%

36-96 months; 
32 quarters

-                       149.44                

HDFC Bank Limited Secured by hypothecation of equipments 
purchased using the term loan.

Base rate plus 1.5% - 
Base rate plus 3%

36 - 63 months 29.55                   50.40                  

ICICI Bank Limited Vehicle loans are secured by hypothecation 
of vehicles purchased using the term loan.

8% to 11.25% 36 - 47 months 1.22                     0.53                    

South Indian Bank Secured by equitable mortgage of 319.9 
cents of land

Base rate plus 1.3% 36 months 179.71                 181.40                

Dhanlaxmi Bank Limited Cash credit facility availed from  the  bank  
is repayable  on  demand  and is  secured  
by book debts  and  stock of all goods 
including pharmacy and general goods. 

Bank rate  plus 
0.75%

 Repayable on 
demand 

-                       44.92                  

HDFC Bank

Secured by hypothecation of equipments , 
spares and immovable properties

Base rate plus 0.25% 132 months 486.54                 332.62                

HDFC Bank

Secured by hypothecation of equipments 
purchased using the term loan

Base rate plus 0.25% 6 months - 60 
months

118.01                 128.42                

HDFC Bank

Secured by equitable mortgage of land with
building and also by hypothecation of 
furniture, equipments, machinery, 
computers.Vehicle loans are secured by 
hypothecation of vehicles purchased using 
the term loans.

Base rate plus 0.25% 23 Months 85.35                   -                     

HDFC Bank

Cash credit facility availed from  the  bank  
is repayable  on  demand  and is  secured  
by book debts  and  stock of all goods 
including pharmacy and general goods. 

Base rate plus 0.85% 60 days 51.21                   -                     

HDFC Bank

Secured by hypothecation of equipments 
purchased using the term loan

Base rate plus 0.25% 36 months 0.25                     0.37                    

951.84                 888.10                
*includes current maturities of long-term borrowings

A Changes in liabilities and financial assets arising from financing activities

As at 
31 March 2017

Cash flows
Foreign 

Exchange 
Movement

Fair Value 
changes

Non-current borrowings 725.38             34.83                      -                   -                       760.21                
Current borrowings 162.72             28.91                      -                   -                       191.63                
Total 888.10             63.74                      -                   -                       951.84                

Particulars
As at 

31 March 2018

Non-cash changes
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 As at 
31 March 2018 

 As at 
31 March 2017 

15  Other financial liabilties
Current
Current maturities of long-term borrowings* 140.42                 117.80                
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings * 4.39                     -                     
Dues to creditors for expenses and others 135.45                 116.06                
Security deposits from others 19.93                   18.81                  
Due to related party 4.37                     0.66                    
Dues to creditors for capital goods 56.60                   31.82                  
Accrued salaries and benefits 41.22                   35.65                  
Unpaid dividend 1.07                     0.86                    

403.45                 321.66                
* The details of interest rates, repayment and other terms are disclosed in Note 14
The Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to the above financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 35

16  Provisions 
Non-current
Provision for employee benefits

Net defined benefit liability - Gratuity * 36.99                   34.06                  
Compensated absences 8.79                     8.76                    

45.78                   42.82                  

Current
Provision for employee benefits

Net defined benefit liability - Gratuity * 7.83                     5.18                    
Compensated absences 2.84                     2.33                    

10.67                   7.51                    

*Refer note 36

17  Other current liabilities 

Current
Advances received from customers 19.50                   16.98                  
Capital advance 0.50                     -                     
Statutory dues payables 21.85                   22.35                  

41.85                   39.33                  

18  Trade payables
Dues to micro and small enterprises -                       -                     
Dues to trade creditors 247.76                 197.10                

247.76                 197.10                

The Company's exposure  to currency and liquidity risks related to trade payables is disclosed in Note 35

-                       -                     
-                       -                     
-                       -                     

-                       -                     

-                       -                     
-                       -                     The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the 

interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible 
expenditure under the Act

Disclosures as required under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 ("the Act") based on the information available with the Compan
are given below:

The principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the year 
The interest due on the principal remaining outstanding as at the end of the year 
The amount of interest paid under the Act, along with the amounts of the payment made beyond the appointed day 
during the year 

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but 
beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest specified under the Act

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the year 
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 Year ended 
31 March 2018 

 Year ended 
31 March 2017 

19      Revenue from operations 
Income from hospital and medical services 2,934.90                                  2,814.95                      
Sale of medicines 301.15                                     326.44                         

3,236.05                                  3,141.39                      

20      Other income 
Interest income on bank deposits 1.32                                         0.51                             
Rent 35.63                                       36.65                           
Dividend on non-current investments -                                           3.18                             
Other non-operating income 3.80                                         4.18                             

40.75                                       44.52                           

21      Purchases of stock-in-trade
Medicines and consumables 806.92                                     828.04                         

806.92                                     828.04                         

22      Change in inventories of  stock-in-trade
Medicines and medical consumables:

Opening stock 82.74                                       89.73                           
Closing stock 86.04                                       82.74                           

(3.30)                                        6.99                             

23      Employee benefits expense
Salaries, wages and bonuses 569.25                                     547.56                         
Contribution to provident and other funds 62.56                                       56.53                           
Staff welfare expense 7.86                                         7.95                             

639.67                                     612.04                         

24      Finance cost
Interest on borrowings 51.01                                       54.76                           
Other borrowing cost 0.13                                         0.09                             

51.14                                       54.85                           

25      Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 130.84                                     137.71                         
Amortisation on intangible assets 2.64                                         1.14                             

133.48                                     138.85                         

26      Other expenses 
Stores and spares 36.71                                       30.81                           
Power and fuel 114.97                                     113.50                         
Water 13.45                                       13.24                           
Laboratory investigation outsourcing 6.37                                         6.41                             
Professional fee to doctors 861.32                                     795.38                         

Rent 29.13                                       30.66                           
Repairs and maintenance - buildings 8.46                                         17.42                           

Repairs and maintenance - plant and machinery 17.46                                       20.19                           
Repairs and maintenance - others 198.17                                     190.80                         
Insurance 9.21                                         7.59                             
Rates and taxes 14.79                                       6.62                             
Travel and conveyance 2.84                                         2.57                             

Legal, professional and consultancy charges 3.38                                         10.67                           
Communication 4.81                                         6.83                             
Advertising and promotional 66.97                                       71.76                           
Allowance for credit losses 3.50                                         1.30                             
Donations 8.44                                         6.11                             
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (net) -                                           0.32                             
Bank charges 9.06                                         6.47                             
Miscellaneous expenses 23.74                                       21.30                           

1,432.78                                  1,359.95                      

27      CSR expenditure

Gross amount required to be spent during the year 6.29                                         7.13                             
Amount spent during the year on :

Construction/acquisition of an asset -                                           -                               
On purposes other than above 10.58                                       7.19                             

10.58                                       7.19                             
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 As at 
31 March  2018 

 As at 
31 March 2017 

28      Income taxes

Income tax assets/(liability) 
Income tax assets 20.76                            43.67                            
Current income tax liabilities -                                -                                
Net  income tax assets/(liability) 20.76                            43.67                            

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Deferred tax asset

Trade receivables 4.70                              3.49                              
Provision for employee benefits 19.54                            17.42                            

Total deferred income tax assets 24.24                            20.91                            

Deferred tax liabilities
On account of fair valuation of land * 508.78                          508.78                          

184.53                          174.27                          

Total deferred income tax liabilities 693.31                          683.05                          
Net deferred income tax liabilities (669.07)                        (662.14)                        

* The deferred tax liability arising on the fair valuation is recognised based on tax rates applicable to the long-term capital gains.

Movement during the year ended 
31 March 2018

 As at
31 March 2017 

 Credit/ (Charge) in the 
Statement of Profit and 

Loss 

Recognise in OCI 
during 2017-18

As at
31 March 2018

Provision for doubtful debts and advances 3.49                                                                  1.21                                   -                                 4.70 
Provision for employee benefits 17.42                                                               3.31 (1.19)                                                        19.54 
On account of fair valuation land * (508.78)                                                                -                                     -                            (508.78)
Excess of depreciation on fixed asset under 
Income Tax Act, 1961 over depreciation under 
Companies Act. 

(174.27)                                                        (10.26)                                   -                            (184.53)

                     (662.14)                                      (5.74)                              (1.19)                          (669.07)

Movement during the year ended 
31 March 2017

 As at
31 March 2016 

Credit/ (Charge) in the 
Statement of Profit and 

Loss

Recognise in OCI 
during 2016-17

As at
31 March 2017

Provision for doubtful debts and advances 3.04                                                                  0.45                                   -                                 3.49 

Provision for employee benefits 15.21                                                               1.96 0.25                             17.42 
On account of fair valuation land * (508.78)                                                                -                                     -                            (508.78)
Excess of depreciation on fixed asset under 
Income Tax Act, 1961 over depreciation under 
Companies Act. 

(163.49)                                                        (10.78)                                   -                            (174.27)

                     (654.02)                                      (8.37)                               0.25                          (662.14)

 As at 
31 March  2018 

 As at 
31 March 2017 

Income tax expense
Current tax 72.30                            53.61                            
Income tax for earlier years -                                16.44                            
Deferred tax 6.93                              8.12                              

79.23                            78.17                            

Particulars
Profit before income taxes 205.53                          178.00                          
Enacted tax rates in India 34.61% 33.99%
Expected tax expense 71.13                            60.50                            
Exempt income -                                1.08                              
Effect of permanent disallowances for tax purposes (8.10)                            (2.31)                            
Income tax for earlier years -                                16.44                            
Income tax expense 79.23                            61.73                            
Effective tax rate 38.55% 34.68%

A reconciliation of the income tax provision to the amount computed by applying 
the statutory income tax rate to the income before income taxes is summarized below:

Excess of depreciation on property, plant and equipment under Income Tax Act, 1961 over 
depreciation under Companies Act. 

The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority. Company has recognised deferred tax assets arising
out of tax losses (unabsorbed depreciation) to the extent of net deferred tax liability on account of taxable temporary differences.

* The deferred tax liability arising on the fair valuation is recognised based on tax rates applicable to the long-term capital gains.
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29 Contingent liabilities and commitments

Particulars As at 
31 March 2018

As at 
31 March 2017

258.29                               4.85                           

Claims against the Company not acknowledge as debt - Customer/ patient claims 33.37                                 34.33                         

7.24                                   -                             

8.84                                   8.84                           

1.45                                   1.65                           
16.13                                 16.13                         

30 Earnings per share

A. Basic earnings per share

i) Net profit  attributable to equity share holders 

Particulars
Year ended 

31 March 2018
Year ended 

31 March 2017

126.30                               99.83                         

ii) Weighted average number of equity shares 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March 2018
Year ended 

31 March 2017

90,829,497                       90,829,497               
90,829,497                       90,829,497               

1.39                                   1.10                           

Net profit for the year, attributable to the equity share holders

Opening balance (Refer note 13)
Weighted average number of equity shares of Rs. 10 each for the year

Earnings per share, basic 

The calculation of profit attributable to equity share holders and weighted average number of equity shares outstanding for the purpose of basic earnings 
per share calculaitons are as follows:

Employee bonus (Refer note (c) below)

a) The Company has received an income tax demand for the assessment year 2012-13 wherein demand of Rs. 9.05 million has been raised against the
Company on account of certain disallowances, adjustments made by the income tax department. The Company has paid Rs. 1.81 million under protest
against the demand. Management believes that the position taken by it on the matter is tenable and hence, no adjustment has been made to the financial
statements. The Company has filed an appeal against the demands received.

b) The Company has received demand from the provident fund authorities wherein demand of Rs. 8.84 million has been raised against the Company on
account of provident fund contribution in respect of certain trainees employed by the Company. Management believes that the position taken by it on the
matter is tenable and hence, no adjustment has been made to the financial statements. The Company has filed an appeal against the demands received.

c) Employee bonus refers to amount payable to employees as per Payment of Bonus (Amendment) Act 2015 vis-à-vis retrospective application from 1
April 2014 to 31 March 2015. Company has relied on stay petition granted by the Honorable High Court of Kerala and Honorable High Court Madras
against retrospective application of Payment of Bonus (Amendment) Act 2015 from 1 April 2014. Pending disposal of the case, no provision has been
made in the books of accounts. The Company has obtained an independent legal opinion in support of this.

d) In the past, the Company made certain allotment of shares in violation of provisions of section 67(3) of the Companies Act, 1956. Pursuant to a press
release dated November 30, 2015 and circular no. CIR/CFD/DIL3/18/2015 dated December 31, 2015 (the press release and the circular, the "SEBI
Circular"), the SEBI provided an opportunity to companies to avoid penal action in case of such violations subject to fulfillment of certain conditions. The
Company had compounded the offence based on the order received from National Company Law Tribunal. On 16 November 2017, the Company received
a fresh notice from SEBI on the matter. Based on a legal advice obtained, the Company filed a ‘settlement application’ with the SEBI, the outcome of
which is awaited.

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account 
(net of advances) and not provided for

Disputed income tax demand pending before assessing authorities (Refer 
notes (a) below)

Disputed provident fund demand pending before appellate authorities 
(Refer note (b) below)

Bank guarantee
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B. Diluted earnings per share

i) Net profit attributable to equity share holders 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March 2018
Year ended 

31 March 2017

126.30                               99.83                         

ii) Weighted average number of equity shares 
Particulars Year ended 

31 March 2018
Year ended 

31 March 2017

90,829,497                 90,829,497         
-                                     -                             

1.39                                   1.10                           

31 Auditors’ remuneration (included under legal and professional charges, net of service tax)
Year ended 

31 March 2018
Year ended 

31 March 2017

0.73                                   0.66                           
0.73                                   0.66                           

32 Operating leases

33 Segmental reporting

Assets taken on operating lease
The Company has taken hospital/office premises on operating lease arrangements that are renewable on mutually agreeable terms. All these leases are
cancellable in nature. The total lease payments in respect of such leases recognised in the statement of profit and loss for the year Rs 29.13 (31 March
2017: Rs 30.66).
Assets given on operating lease
The Company has given space in Calicut hospital premises under cancellable operating lease arrangements that are renewable on mutually agreeable
terms. All these leases are cancellable in nature. The total lease income received / receivable in respect of the above leases recognised in the statement of
profit and loss for the year is Rs 35.62 (31 March 2017: Rs 36.65).

Ind AS 108 “Operating Segment” (“Ind AS 108”) establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report information about operating
segments and related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. Based on the "management approach" as defined in
Ind AS 108, Operating segments are to be reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(CODM).The CODM evaluates the Company's performance and allocates resources on overall basis. The Company’s sole operating segment is therefore
‘Medical and Healthcare Services’. Accordingly, there are no additional disclosure to be provided under Ind AS 108, other than those already provided in
the financial statements.

Total
Statutory audit 

The calculation of profit attributable to equity share holders and weighted average number of equity shares outstanding, after adjustment for the effects of 
all dilutive potential equity shares is as follows:

Net profit for the year, attributable to the equity share holders

Weighted average number of equity shares of Rs. 10 each for the year (basic)
Effect of dilutive shares

Earnings per share, diluted

Particulars
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34 Related parties
(i) Names of related parties and description of relationship with the Company:

(a) Holding company Aster DM Healthcare Limited, India
(b) Ultimate holding Company Union Investment P Limited, Mauritius
(c) Associate Companies MIMS Infrastructure and Properties Private Limited, India
(d) Fellow subsidiaries

(e) Key managerial personnel and relatives
Dr. Azad Moopen Chairman
Dr. M Ali Vice chairman
Mr. U Basheer Executive Director   (Upto 31 January 2018)  Whole Time Director  thereafter
Mr. Saidalavi Koya Thangal Director
Dr. Santy Sajan Chief Executive Officer (From 15 January 2018)
Mr. Kunhimoideen Haji Director (Upto 20 December 2017)
Dr. JasimVattura Relative to a Director

(f)

(ii) Related party transactions:
The Company has entered into the following transactions with related parties during the year ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017

As at 
31 March 2018

As at 
31 March 2017

As at 
31 March 2018

As at 
31 March 2017

1 Salaries, wages and bonus* 5.12                          6.22                   (0.01)                                  0.03                    
Rent 6.73                          5.75                   (0.51)                                  (0.56)                   
Rent deposit -                           0.30                   1.63                                   1.63                    

2 (3.72)                        0.08                   (3.74)                                  0.00                    
Dividend paid 32.10                        64.16                 -                                     -                      

3 Aster DM Healthcare FZC 0.03                          -                     (0.63)                                  (0.66)                   
4 Aster DM Group Pharmacy LLC 0.80                          0.11                   0.91                                   0.11                    
5 Aster Global Centre 0.17                          -                     0.17                                   -                      
6 Professional fees -                           0.01                   -                                     -                      

0.03                          0.05                   0.15                                   0.13                    

Non-current investments -                           -                     92.90                                 92.90                  

8 Moopens Aztech Contracting LLP Purchase of fixed assets and consultancy fees -                           0.26                   -                                     -                      
Rent -                           4.63                   0.10                                   0.07                    
Rent deposit -                           -                     1.11                                   1.11                    
Expenses reimbursement 0.02                          -                     0.41                                   -                      

10 Kunhimoideen Haji Rent 1.44                          1.44                   (0.03)                                  (0.02)                   

11 Dr Santy Sajan Salaries, wages and bonus* 1.17                          -                     -                                     -                      

12 Sitting Fee to Directors Sitting Fee 1.30                          -                     1.10                                   -                      

9 Saidalavi Koya Thangal

* The above figure does not include provision for gratuity as the same is determined for the Company as a whole based on an actuarial valuation. The remuneration is paid to the directors in their professional 
capacity as doctors.

7

Expenses incurred by the Company/ incurred on behalf of the Company 
Expenses incurred by the Company/ incurred on behalf of the Company 
Expenses incurred by the Company/ incurred on behalf of the Company 

Expenses incurred by the Company/ incurred on behalf of the Company 

Dr.JasimVattura

MIMS Infrastructure and Properties 
Private Limited

Aster DM Group Pharmacy LLC, UAE
Aster DM Healthcare FZC, UAE

Outstanding balance (receivable/payable)Volume of transactions

U Basheer

Enterprises over which Key Management Personnel are 
able to exercise significant influence

Sl.No. Name of related party Description of the transaction.

Moopens Aztech Contracting LLP, India
Aster Global Centre, India

Aster DM Healthcare Limited Expenses incurred by the Company/ incurred on behalf of the Company 



Malabar Institute of Medical Sciences Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Indian rupees million)

35 Financial Instruments- Fair values and risk management

        A Accounting classifications and fair values

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost:

As at 31 March 2018 Note Amortised cost Total

Financial assets
  Cash and cash equivalents 12 15.62                            15.62                                  
  Investment in associate 6 92.91                            92.91                                  
  Trade receivables 10 313.62                          313.62                                
  Bank balances 11 1.24                              1.24                                    
  Other financial assets 7 54.75                            54.75                                  

478.14                          478.14                                
Financial liabilities
  Trade payables 18 247.76                          247.76                                
  Borrowings 14 951.85                          951.85                                
  Other financial liabilities  15 263.02                          263.02                                

1,462.63                       1,462.63                             

As at 31 March 2017 Note  Amortised Cost  Total 

Financial assets
  Cash and cash equivalents 12 27.43                            27.43                                  
  Investment in associate 6 92.91                            92.91                                  
  Trade receivables 10 227.06                          227.06                                
  Bank balances 11 0.65                              0.65                                    
  Other financial assets 7 50.29                            50.29                                  

398.34                          398.34                                
Financial liabilities
  Trade payables 18 197.10                          197.10                                
  Borrowings 14 888.10                          888.10                                
  Other financial liabilities  15 203.85                          203.85                                

1,289.05                       1,289.05                             

Fair value

*The Company has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,trade payables etc, 
because their carrying amounts are a resonable approximation of fair value.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, unbilled revenues, trade payables, current financial liabilities 
and borrowings approximate their carrying amount largely due to the short-term nature of these instruments. A substantial portion of the 
Company's long-term debt has been contracted at floating rates of interest, which are reset at short intervals. Accordingly, the carrying value of 
such long-term debt approximates fair value. 
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35 Financial Instruments (continued)

B Financial risk management
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk, interest risk and liquidity risk.

a) Risk management framework

b) Credit risk

Balance at the beginning 10.09                         8.79                             
Impairment loss recognised 3.50                           1.30                             
Balance at the end 13.59                         10.09                           

c) Liquidity risk

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of  31 March 2018

Particulars Less than 1 year 1-2 years 3-5 years More than 5 years Total
Trade payables 247.76                        -                             -                               -                            247.76                  
Borrowings 191.63                        39.22                         76.12                           644.87                      951.84                  
Other financial liabilities 263.02                        -                             -                               -                            263.02                  

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the revenue as of  31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017. There is no significant concentration of credit risk.

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalent is limited as the Company generally transacts with banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international and domestic credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company's
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Company's reputation.

As at
31 March 2017

The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the  risk management framework.
The Company’s board of directors oversee how management monitors compliance with the risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the
risks faced by the Company. The committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of
which are reported to the audit and risk management committee.

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligation under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to financial loss. The credit risk arises principally from its operating activities
(primarily trade receivables) and from its investing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments.

Credit risk is controlled by analysing credit limits and creditworthiness of customers on a continuous basis to whom credit has been granted after obtaining necessary approvals for credit. The collection from the
trade receivables are monitored on a continuous basis by the receivables team.
The Company establishes an allowance for credit loss that represents its estimate of expected losses in respect of trade and other receivables based on the past and the recent collection trend.The maximum
exposure to the credit risk at the reporting date is primarily from trade receivables amounting to 313.62 million (31 March 2017: 227.06 million). The movement in allowance for credit loss in respect of trade and
other receivables during the year was as follows:

Allowance for credit loss
As at

31 March 2018
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The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of 31 March 2017:

Particulars Less than 1 year 1-2 years 3-5 years More than 5 years Total
Trade payables 197.10                        -                             -                               -                            197.10                  
Borrowings 162.73                        85.37                         125.98                         514.02                      888.10                  
Other financial liabilities 162.05                        -                             -                               -                            162.05                  

d) Market risk

e) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

i) Interest rate risk exposure

As at
31 March 2018

As at 
31 March 2017

Variable rate long term borrowings including current maturities 900.63                      843.18                  

900.63                      843.18                  

Sensitivity 

Sensitivity
1% increase in rate                            9.01                              8.43 9.01                          8.43                      
1% decrease in rate                           (9.01)                             (8.43) (9.01)                         (8.43)                     
The interest rate sensitivity is based on the closing balance of secured term loans from banks. 

Particulars
Impact on profit or loss  Impact on other  equity

As at
31 March 2018

As at
31 March 2017

As at
31 March 2018

As at
31 March 2017

Total

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices. 

The Company's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rate on the Company’s financial instruments is
based on market rates. The Company monitors the movement in interest rates on an ongoing basis.

The exposure of the Company's borrowing to interest rate changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial liabilities (bank borrowings)
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36 Gratuity plan

A

 Year ended 
31 March 2018 

 Year ended 
31 March 2017 

                             39.24                     35.85 
Benefit paid                              (3.98)                     (3.92)

                             10.13                       4.95 
                               2.88                       1.64 

                                  -                             -  
- changes in demographic assumptions                                   -                             -  
- changes in financial assumptions                              (4.06)                     (1.33)
- experience adjustments                                0.61                       2.05 

                             44.82                     39.24 
Plan assets at the end of the year                                   -                             -  

                             44.82                     39.24 

B (i) Expenses recognised in statement of profit and loss
Service cost                              10.13                       4.95 
Interest cost                                2.88                       1.64 

                             13.01                       6.59 

(ii) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income
                               2.26                     (0.50)

                               2.26                     (0.50)

C Defined benefit obligation

(i) Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations:

Principal acturial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted average)

31 March 2018 31 March 2017
7.50% 6.80%
4.50% 5.00%

7                                   7                          
Below 35 years : 

35% p.a
35 yrs & above : 

3% p.a.

Below 35 years : 
35% p.a

35 yrs & above : 
3% p.a.

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

Particulars
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Discount rate (1% movement) 2.90                              3.32                            2.97                              3.42                     
Future salary growth (1% movement) 3.39                              3.01                            3.45                              3.04                     
Withdrawal rate (1% movement) 0.47                              0.55                            0.21                              0.26                     

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of the cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of 
the sensitivity of the assumption shown.

The Company assesses these assumptions with its projected long-term plans of growth and prevalent industry standards. The discount rate is based 
on the government securities yield.
Gratuity is applicable only to employees drawing a salary in Indian rupees and there are no other foreign defined benefit gratuity plan.

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the acturial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the 
defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below

The following tables set out the status of the gratuity plan as required under Accounting Standard-15.

Reconcilation of present value of defined benefit 

Particulars

Balance at beginning of the year 

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/ loss recognised in other comprehensive income

Balance at the end of the year 

Net defined benefit (liability)

Net gratuity cost

Acturial (gain) loss on defined benefit obligation

Particulars
Discount rate
Future salary growth
Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligaiton

Attrition rate
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37 Capital management

 As at
31 March 2018 

 As at
31 March 2017 

                                  3,745.22                              3,681.67 
80% 81%

                                     900.63                                 843.18 
                                       51.21                                  44.92 
                                     951.84                                 888.10 

20% 19%

4,697.06                                  4,569.77                            

38 Donation to political parties

Particulars
Year ended

31 March 2018
Year ended

31 March 2017

Communist Party of India (M)                                          0.23                                    1.03 
Indian National Congress                                          0.04                                    0.32 
Janatha Dal                                          0.01                                    0.04 
Bharathiya Janatha Party                                          0.50                                    3.27 
Indian Union Muslim League                                              -                                      0.13 
Others                                          0.04                                    0.75 
Total                                          0.82                                    5.54 

39 Transfer Pricing

40 Disclosure on Specified Bank Notes (SBNs)

Specified bank notes* Other denomination notes   Total
2.50                                     0.00                                         2.50                                   
-                                      116.94                                     116.94                               
-                                      0.44                                         0.44                                   

21.42                                   -                                          21.42                                 
-                                      -                                          -                                     

23.92                                   115.98                                     139.90                               
-                                      0.52                                         0.52                                   

41
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As a percentage of total capital

The Company's policy is to maintain a stable capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. 
Management monitors capital on the basis of return on capital employed as well as the debt to total equity ratio.
For the purpose of debt to total equity ratio, debt considered is long-term and short-term borrowings. Total equity comprise of issued share capital and all other equity 
reserves.

The capital structure as of 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017,was as follows:

Particulars

Total equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company

(+) Permitted receipts 

Long-term borrowings including current maturities
Short-term borrowings
Total borrowings
As a percentage of total capital

Total capital (Equity and Borrowings)

The company has established a comprehensive system of maintenance of information and documents as required by the transfer pricing legislation under sections 92-92F
of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Since the law requires existence of such information and documentation to be contemporaneous in nature, the Company is in the process
of updating the documentation for the international transactions entered into with associated enterprises during the financial period and expects such records to be
existence latest by the date of filing its income tax return as required by the law. The management is of the opinion that its international transactions are at arm’s length
so that the aforesaid legislation will not have any impact on the financial statements, particularly on the amount of tax expense and that of provision for taxation.

During the previous year, the Company had specified bank notes or other denomination note as defined in the MCA notification G.S.R. 308(E) dated 31 March 2017 on 
the details of Specified Bank Notes (SBN) held and transacted during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016, the denomination wise SBNs and other 
notes as per the notification is given below:

Particulars
Closing cash in hand as on 08.11.2016

(-) Permitted payments 
(+) Not permitted receipts 
(-) Not permitted payments 
(-) Amount deposited in Banks
Closing cash in hand as on 30.12.2016*

* For the purposes of this clause, the term ‘Specified Bank Notes’ shall have the same meaning provided in the notification of the Government of India, in the Ministry 
of Finance, Department of Economic Affairs number S.O. 3407(E), dated the 8 November, 2016.

Previous year figures have been regrouped / reclassified wherever necessary to confirm to the current year's presentation.
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